RESEARCH PAPER SERIES

BRIDGING THE DIGITAL DIVIDE

AN INSIGHT INTO LOW-INCOME WOMEN'S DIGITAL Engagement in Bangladesh



Authors

M. Shahadat Hossain

Atanu Das



24102

Research Paper Series

24102

Research Paper on

BRIDGING THE DIGITAL DIVIDE

AN INSIGHT INTO LOW-INCOME WOMEN'S DIGITAL ENGAGEMENT IN BANGLADESH

Authors:

M. Shahadat Hossain

Atanu Das





Research Paper on

BRIDGING THE DIGITAL DIVIDE

AN INSIGHT INTO LOW-INCOME WOMEN'S DIGITAL ENGAGEMENT IN BANGLADESH

Authors

M. Shahadat Hossain

Atanu Das

First Edition Published: May, 2024 ISBN Number: 978-984-35-6705-5

Cover & Design: Md. Nurul Islam Oalid Talukder, Sr. Graphic Designer, Dnet Published by: Dnet, 4/8, Humayun Road, Block B, Mohammadpur, Dhaka 1207, Bangladesh.

E-mail: info@dnet.org.bd Web Address: www.dnet.org.bd Tel: +88 096060 03638, Fax: +88 02 8142021

Price: BDT 300/ USD 05

All Rights Reserved

The publication may be reproduced or distributed for non-commercial purpose in any form or by any means, or stored in a data base or retrieval system. However, proper quotation and reference is mandatory.

Cite as:

Hossain, M. S. & Das. (2024). Bridging the Digital Divide: An Inshight into Low-Income Women's Digital Engagement In Bangladesh. Dnet Research Paper Series, 24 (102). Dnet, Bangladesh.

24102



About Dnet

Dnet (Development Research Network) is a not-for-profit research institution in Bangladesh, established in 2001. Dnet's vision is a society where information and knowledge facilitate all stakeholders' participation in the generation of wealth and its equitable distribution for poverty alleviation. Its mission is to become a premier organization in Bangladesh and beyond by undertaking research and various action programs in the areas where information and knowledge can contribute to poverty alleviation, economic growth, and peace.

During the initial years of activities, Dnet's main focus was research on information and communication technology (ICT) for development. Dnet's in-depth research in the area of ICTs for poverty alleviation has drawn the attention of stakeholders not only in Bangladesh but also across the globe.

Dnet empowers individuals and communities through collaborative solutions. We transcend service provision, acting as a catalyst for positive change. Rigorous research fuels our impactful programs, designed by experts for lasting impact. We promote human-centric technology and offer business solutions, all focused on building a just and sustainable future.

Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEDGMENT	i
Introduction	3
Objectives of the Study	3
Significant of the Study	5
Literature Review	5
Understanding of the Study	8
Methodology	10
In-Depth Interviews (IDIs)	
Focus Group Discussions (FGDs)	10
Findings of the Study	11
Ownership of Mobile Phones	11
Behavior of Using Digital Devices	11
Access to Government Service Apps	
Utilization of Online Banking Services	
Discussion on Findings	
Limited Access to Digital Devices	12
Discrepancies in Access and Ownership of Digital Devices	
Pragmatic Approach to Digital Usage	13
Barriers to Digital Inclusion	13
Policy Implications and Recommendations	14
Future Directions for Research	16
Conclusion	16
Limitations	
References	



ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We extend our sincere gratitude to all those who contributed to the completion of this study. First and foremost, we would like to express our appreciation to the participants whose valuable insights and contributions were indispensable to the research process. Their willingness to share their experiences and perspectives enriched the study's findings and added depth to our understanding of the subject matter. We also deeply thank Md. Soyeb Shakil and Md. Sirajus Salekin Rajib for their support throughout the data collection process of this study. Additionally, we extend our thanks to all the colleagues of Dnet who provided assistance and resources essential to the completion of this study. Their encouragement, insightful discussions, and constructive criticism, greatly influenced the development of this work.

M. Shahadat Hossain

Atanu Das



ABSTRACT

The present study delves into the digital engagement of low-income women in Bangladesh, aiming to understand their current status, challenges, and needs regarding the use of digital devices. This study synthesizes literature on the digital divide, and gender dynamics to understand their interconnectedness and implications for socio-economic development in Bangladesh. Utilizing an exploratory approach, data were collected through focus group discussions (FGDs) and in-depth interviews (IDIs) from both formal and informal sectors. The findings reveal significant disparities in digital access, literacy, and usage between the two sectors. While access to smartphones is more prevalent in the informal sector, challenges such as poor digital literacy and limited training opportunities persist in the formal sector. Addressing these challenges requires multifaceted interventions aimed at enhancing access, providing targeted training, addressing affordability issues, and challenging gender-based barriers. This study advocates for continued exploration and action to bridge the digital gap, ensuring that no woman is left behind in the journey toward digital empowerment and inclusion. The study recommends tailored digital literacy programs, promotion of digital inclusion initiatives, affordable access to devices and the internet, and workplace training initiatives to bridge the digital divide among low-income women in Bangladesh. In a nutshell, by fostering digital inclusion, policymakers and stakeholders can empower lowincome women, unlocking their full potential in the digital era and fostering more equitable societal development that contributes to their overall empowerment.



Introduction

The digital revolution has transformed societies worldwide, offering opportunities for socioeconomic advancement and empowerment. However, low-income groups, particularly women in developing countries like Bangladesh, often face barriers to accessing and utilizing digital technologies (Hossain and Reja, 2019). At present, using mobile phones in various aspects of daily life activity is becoming a common practice. Statistics of BTRC show that the total number of mobile phone subscribers in Bangladesh reached 190.36 million at the end of November 2023¹. The proportion of households in the country with mobile phones is now 97.9%, whereas those with smartphones stand at 63.3% (BBS, 2023). The number of mobile internet users was 118.96 million at the end of November 2023². So about 62.9% of mobile users use mobile internet. In this respect, the mobile phone can play a crucial factor in spreading mobile-based facilities. But when considering gender, the internet usage rate is 46.58% for males and 27.77% for females (ibid).

So from the above statement, it can be depicted that in terms of owning a mobile phone for own use and using the internet, males are significantly dominant over females. Conversely, women lag far behind in accessing technological facilities which can be assumed to affect their digital engagement. Rather than women of all types of income groups, the current study focused only on the digital engagement of low-income women in Bangladesh. With regard to their digital engagement, this study focuses on their access to, usage of, and challenges with digital devices in both formal and informal sectors.

Objectives of the Study

For the purpose of the study, an interpretive approach of qualitative understanding can develop some understanding regarding these emergent themes. For that a realist synthesis was employed to assess the status of digital device usage among low-income women, shedding light on social and structural inequities inherent in the digital divide. The investigation delved into the motivations behind digital device usage among low-income women, illuminating their specific needs and goals in accessing technology. Additionally, this

¹ <u>https://www.amtob.org.bd/home/industrystatics</u>

² Ibid



synthesis revealed the diverse array of challenges faced by low-income women in utilizing digital devices, highlighting barriers to access and proficiency within this demographic.

The main objective of this study is to gain insight into the digital engagement of low-income women in Bangladesh, whether it is at an acceptable level or not. This study also includes the following specific objectives.

- to understand the present status of using digital devices among low-income women;
- to investigate the purpose of using digital devices among low-income women;
- to discover the challenges faced by low-income women in using digital devices.

Based on these objectives outlined, a few research questions can be formulated as follows:

Type of Research Objective	Research Objectives	Research Question
Broad	to gain insight into the digital engagement of low-income women in Bangladesh, whether it is at an acceptable level or not.	 → What are the key dimensions of the digital divide among low-income women in Bangladesh, considering factors such as physical access to ICTs, digital skill proficiency, and gender-specific challenges? → What are the prevailing challenges faced by low- income women in Bangladesh concerning digital technology adoption?
Specific	- to understand the present status of using digital devices among low-income women.	 → What is the current level of access to digital devices among low-income women in Bangladesh, particularly in the formal and informal sectors? → What types of digital devices are commonly used by low-income women, and what are the reasons behind their choice of devices? → What are the main barriers to accessing digital devices faced by low-income women in Bangladesh?
	- to investigate the purpose of using digital devices among low- income women.	 → What are the primary purposes for which low- income women in Bangladesh use digital devices? → How do the purposes of digital device usage vary between women in the formal and informal sectors?

Table 1 Research Objectives and Research Questions



Type of Research Objective	Research Objectives	Research Question
	- to discover the	→ What role do socioeconomic factors play in shaping the digital engagement objectives of low-income women?
		→ What are the main challenges encountered by low-income women in Bangladesh when using digital devices?
challenges faced by low-income women with respect to using digital devices.	→ How do the challenges differ between women in the formal and informal sectors?	
	digital devices.	→ What strategies do low-income women employ to overcome these challenges, and are there any common coping mechanisms?

These research questions aim to delve into various aspects of digital engagement among lowincome women in Bangladesh, providing insights into their current status, purposes, and challenges related to using digital devices in both formal and informal sectors.

Significance of the Study

Previous academic literature has elsewhere failed to present the actual development process of ICT processes in improving the marginal and rural livelihoods of Bangladeshi women although some literature supports that some ICT projects have significantly enriched the socio-economic opportunities of many women in Bangladesh (Ashraf et al., 2011). This paper will be very effective for the academics, practitioners, social activists, and policymakers who cherish to enhance their understanding of digital device use among the low-income women of Bangladesh.

Literature Review

Studies on the digital divide are an important opportunity to understand theories related to inequalities between individuals, households, and geographic units in the access and use of information and communication technologies(ICTs) (Pick & Sarkar, 2016). The term "digital divide" originated in the mid-late 1990s, adoption and utilization of information and communications technologies (ICTs) in multifaceted spheres like business, economics, and management, and the social sciences have gained immense attention in research communities over the past two decades (Pick and Sarkar, 2016). The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development has narrated the term digital divide as the "difference between individuals, households, businesses, and geographic areas at different



socio-economic arenas with regard both to their opportunities to access ICTs and to their use of the Internet for a myriad type of activities." (OECD, 2011).

The digital revolution has contributed to rapid technology development and the generation of products that can support enhanced access, management, and circulation of knowledge and information. With the burgeoning populations, innovative technology solutions play a pivotal role in advancing the quality of life, health, and independence of veterans. ICT outputs that facilitate information storage, retrieval, manipulation, transmission, or reception in digital form, can enrich accessibility of goods and services; generate and maintain a safe and secure independent living ambient; facilitate self-management of age-related constraints; and leverage social connectivity and participation (Sixsmith and Gutman, 2013). The digital revolution has brought innovative solutions and technologies that facilitate the well-being, independence, and health of seniors. Yet, the term "digital divide" shows significant inequities in terms of who accesses and benefits from the digital landscape (Fang et al., 2019).

The first decade of research on the digital divide starting in the late 1990s to early 2000s stressed physical access to ICTs (like, computer purchasing or Internet subscription ability), and presented inequalities of physical access to ICTs through investigating demographic dissimilation in digital usage, including income, education, geographic location, gender, and age, as more or less separate entities, more recent evidence incorporates combined social attributes, such as educational attainment (Van et al., 2011), income (Atkinson et al., 2008), and gender-specific responsibilities (Casado et al., 2015). Note that research is still missing revealing the interlocking of mentioned determinants that can introduce ICT access and use inequities (Fang et al., 2019). Understanding the scenario is a bit complex in nature and requires multiple solutions, transdisciplinary expertise, and knowledge from multiple disciplines and sectors (Boger et al., 2016). Understanding the social determinants of inequities (such as age, gender, income, and ability) that present among middle-aged and veterans in accessing and using ICTs is pivotal for developing policy and practice (Fisk, 2003).

Digital skills proficiency measures at several levels. OECD (2016) proposes the following classification for digital skills:

i) ICT basic skills, which are needed in all digital technologies;



ii) ICT specialist skills for workers who support and develop the digital ecosystem.

In the same way, ITU (2018b) categorizes digital skills at three levels:

- i) Basic digital skills for individual digital literacy;
- ii) Intermediate digital skills for employers in the digital economy; and
- iii) Advanced digital skills for ICT professionals. The Grameen Phone Community Information Center (GPCIC), facilitates mobile broadband connectivity in rural community centers, and the Village Phone (VP), which offers small-scale women enterprises leveraging mobile phone services in rural communities, this initiative was effective in helping women improve their socio-economic condition and become entrepreneurs (Ashraf et al., 2011).

Moreover, the gender digital divide is deadly for older, less educated, or poor women living in rural areas and developing countries (OECD, 2018). For instance, women feel 1.6 times more than men that they are not adequately skilled to use the Internet in low- and middleincome countries (World Wide Web Foundation, 2015). There is a significant divide in Internet access and use between women and men, as well as between girls and boys. In 92% of countries, male internet users surpass female internet users (ITU, 2019_a). Furthermore, a wide gender gap in mobile phone ownership usually results in a wide gender gap in Internet use (ITU, 2019_a). In low- and middle-income countries, nearly 54% of women enjoy mobile Internet facilities, but women are 20% less likely than men to own a smartphone and use mobile Internet (GSMA, 2020).

Some research strongly supports the idea that men and women are significantly different in terms of perception, skill, and reason behind internet use (Sultana & Imtiaz, 2018). Statistics about internet use show that 48% of women are using it, compared to 58% of men worldwide in 2019 (ITU, 2019_b). Although a large number of women accessed BBC Janala media products to learn English, a former study identified a gendered digital divide incidence. There are much fewer women accessing the web and mobile lessons in particular (Tyers, 2012). Female entrepreneurs' ICT experiences (such as innovativeness, risk propensity, perseverance, and flexibility) share 63%, respectively, with 20% of male entrepreneurs, proving females are more salient in adopting digital technology. Although perseverance and flexibility have no significant impact on the usage of ICT for both genders (Rummana et al., 2011), Research



highlights that men have higher digital skills compared to women, which makes them feel more comfortable using digital technology (Durndell and Haag, 2002). Nevertheless, others argue that this gap is declining and women are more likely to use the internet in some specific cases (Sultana and Imtiaz, 2018).

Several case studies and anecdotal evidence strongly argue that digital technology use has empowered the underprivileged as well as privileged women in developing countries. For example, ICT has facilitated women entrepreneurs running e-businesses, which can be operated 24 hours a day from home in real-time (Heeks et al., 2004). Ng and Mitter (2005) emphasized ICT's contributions to economic well-being and expressed its evolving usage for the purposes of community building and political organization, particularly by women. Even female voices against various anomalies are uplifted through several digital platforms, as proven by the role of digital networks in feminist movements (Harcourt, 1999). Hilbert (2011) affirms that women have already started to utilize digital opportunities to tackle those existing inequalities. Other research argued that ICT can reshape traditional gender activities, especially for women who have benchmarked skills or who lack the resources to invest in higher education (Kelkar and Nathan, 2002). Ultimately, ICT can be an effective tool for women to eradicate discrimination, and attain full equality, well-being, and participation in the decisions that determine their lives and the future of their communities. Furthermore, it widens opportunities for women in the outside world. They also get accurate and timely information like their counterparts (Sharma 2003). Nevertheless, this potential to improve women's socio-economic status in developing countries relies on access to and actual usage of these technologies, which is a crucial initial step (Hilbert, 2011).

Understanding of the Study

This study mainly concentrated on two main concepts 'digital divide' and 'low-income women'. Former research in developing countries shows that women are less likely than men in terms of utilizing digital technology. This predominates the idea of studying the digital gender divide which clearly exists and is a massive threat to women (Hilbert, 2011). Such gaps are quite significant in many countries putting women in a severe problem (Hafkin and Huyer, 2007). A former study supports that this divide applies to access and the frequency and intensity of usage (Park, 2009). When searching for explanations, academics typically rely on anecdotal case studies and local evidence. These have revealed that women encounter



obstacles such as inadequate training and access, as well as software and hardware that do not align with their interests and requirements. (Ng and Mitter, 2005). In this context, the same technophobic arguments that had been raised in the developed world during the 1990s, have been transferred to women in the developing world in recent years. It is argued that women have a negative attitude toward ICT (Varank, 2007) and that the introduction of technologies has often implicitly been designed to meet the needs of men, not of women (Basu, 2000).

Regarding the concept of the 'digital divide', the most common and widely used indicator of measuring the digital divide is internet usage (those who have access to the web and those who do not) (Ragnedda and Muschert, 2013). Besides access to the internet, other indicators such as having a smartphone, personal laptop, or desktop computer are used to measure the term digital divide. Unequal access to ICTs is known as the first-order digital divide and uneven ability to use ICT is known as the second-order digital divide (Jin and Cheong, 2008). There are several forms of digital divide.

The present study considers the term 'digital divide' in two ways. Firstly, those who have smartphones, personal laptops, or desktop computers and Internet access vs. those who do not. Those who are able to use smartphones, personal laptops, or desktop computers and the Internet vs. those who don't. First-order digital divide, in the study, is conceptualized as a gender gap in access to use ICT measured by having a smartphone, having a laptop or a desktop computer, access to the internet on mobile phone and laptop or desktop computer and second order digital divide is conceptualized as a gender gap in the ability to use ICT measured by the ability to web browsing, ability to use Microsoft word (Excel, PowerPoint), ability to install programs, ability to download software, ability to open and use an e-mail ID, ability to open and use an account on social networking sites. Besides the first and secondorder digital divide, a gender gap in actual use is measured by the purpose of using ICTs (smartphone, laptop or desktop computer, internet) and the amount of time spent using the internet/ amount of time spent online. In this study, the ability to use ICTs has been measured by using a 15 15-point binary index. These 15 points are using a smartphone and laptop/desktop without difficulties, the ability internet browsing, ability to open an email account, ability to open a social networking site, ability to install IMO, WhatsApp, and Viber software, ability to use Microsoft Office software, and ability to use MS Word, MS Excel, MS



power point, ability to install any computer games, computer operating system, ability to download PDF or PowerPoint files, any software, any entertainment contents (Movie, Drama, Songs etc) from website, ability to remove virus from electronic devices. According to the mentioned points ability in ICT usage has been measured and after that achieved score represents the actual ability of the respondents (Saha and Zaman, 2017).

Methodology

This research adopted an exploratory methodology to investigate the digital engagement, challenges, and needs of low-income women aged 25 to 40 in both formal and informal sectors in Bangladesh. The study employed two primary data collection methods: in-depth interviews (IDIs) and focus group discussions (FGDs). These qualitative approaches were chosen to facilitate a deep exploration of participants' experiences and perspectives.

In-Depth Interviews (IDIs)

In this study, a total of five in-depth interviews in each sector were conducted, resulting in ten IDIs across both formal and informal sectors. IDIs provided a platform for individual participants to share their personal experiences, insights, and perceptions related to digital engagement. The semi-structured nature of the interviews allowed for flexibility in exploring participants' unique perspectives, ensuring a comprehensive understanding of their digital practices and challenges.

Focus Group Discussions (FGDs)

Additionally, the study conducted two focus group discussions in each sector, totaling four FGDs. Each focus group comprised six participants, resulting in a total of 24 participants engaged in group discussions. FGDs provided an opportunity for participants to interact, exchange ideas, and collectively explore shared experiences and challenges related to digital access and usage within their respective sectors. The group dynamics facilitated rich discussions, enabling researchers to capture diverse viewpoints and common themes.

In sum, this study engaged 34 participants from low-income communities in both formal and informal sectors. By employing qualitative methods such as IDIs and FGDs, the research aimed to uncover nuanced insights into the digital inclusion challenges faced by low-income women in Bangladesh. Through in-depth exploration and analysis of qualitative data, the study sought



to inform the development of targeted interventions to address the digital gender gap and promote women's empowerment in the digital age.

Findings of the Study

The findings reveal stark disparities in digital access, literacy, and usage between formal and informal sectors. In the informal sector, the majority of women own mobile phones, with smartphones being more prevalent. However, challenges such as poor digital literacy and limited access to formal training persist. In the formal sector, access to digital devices is more limited, with many women relying on shared devices or those provided by male family members. Despite owning smartphones, they face constraints due to work and household responsibilities, limiting their digital engagement.

In the quest to understand the dynamics of digital inclusion, particularly among low-income women in Bangladesh, this study aimed to delve into the present status, purposes, and challenges associated with using digital devices. Through IDIs and FGDs, a nuanced understanding of the digital landscape among this demographic emerged.

Ownership of Mobile Phones

This study reveals a significant digital disparity among low-income women in Bangladesh, with only a fraction owning their own mobile phones. While some respondents reported owning basic button (feature) mobile phones, a substantial portion relied on the mobile devices of other family members, primarily male relatives. This underscores the unequal access to personal digital technology among low-income women, limiting their autonomy and independence in digital connectivity.

Behavior of Using Digital Devices

This study sheds light on the multifaceted use of digital devices among low-income women, with diverse purposes ranging from educational to recreational. While a subset of respondents utilized mobile devices for accessing educational content, including tutorials and informative videos, others engaged in entertainment activities such as watching YouTube videos and social media interactions. Additionally, some participants expressed concerns over the excessive use of certain social media platforms, highlighting the need for digital literacy and responsible usage practices.



Access to Government Service Apps

Despite the proliferation of government service apps aimed at enhancing citizen engagement and service delivery, the study revealed significant gaps in their accessibility among lowincome women. most of the respondents reported limited awareness and utilization of these apps, citing barriers such as language barriers, complex interfaces, and insufficient outreach efforts.

Utilization of Online Banking Services

While online banking services offer the potential for financial inclusion and empowerment, their adoption among low-income women remains limited. The study found that only a minority of respondents actively engaged in online banking services, citing challenges such as unfamiliarity with digital banking platforms, concerns about security and fraud, and inadequate support from financial institutions.

Discussion on Findings

Considering the overall findings, this study denotes some key findings. Discussion on these key findings is given below:

Limited Access to Digital Devices

The findings revealed a stark digital disparity, with a significant portion of low-income women lacking ownership of mobile phones. Instead, reliance on the devices of male family members was common, highlighting the unequal distribution of digital

- About 60% of low-income women lack ownership of mobile phones.
- About 40% of low-income women rely on shared devices.
- About 70% of low-income women own basic button phones.

resources within households. For many, basic (feature) mobile phones served as the primary means of communication, with smartphones remaining largely out of reach.

Discrepancies in Access and Ownership of Digital Devices

The disparity in access to digital devices, particularly smartphones, underscores the broader issue of economic inequality and gender-based discrimination. While male family members often possess smartphones, low-income women are relegated to using basic phones or relying on shared access. This inequitable distribution of resources perpetuates existing power imbalances and limits women's autonomy and agency in accessing information and opportunities.



Pragmatic Approach to Digital Usage

This study finds that low-income women use digital platforms for work-related purposes, such as accessing educational content on stitching techniques or recipe tutorials. Social media and entertainment apps, while present, took a backseat to more utilitarian endeavors.

Despite limited access, low-income women

demonstrate a pragmatic approach to digital usage, prioritizing tasks related to livelihood and skill enhancement. The preference for educational content over entertainment reflects a desire for self-improvement and economic empowerment. However, the lack of access to diverse digital platforms and educational resources constrains their ability to fully harness the potential of digital technologies for learning and economic advancement.

Barriers to Digital Inclusion

A recurring theme across the transcripts was the myriad challenges faced by low-income women in navigating digital services. These challenges encompassed various aspects, including limited digital literacy, financial constraints inhibiting access to

About 80% of low-income women face limited digital literacy.

About 30% of low-income women

digital platforms for work-related

About 50% of low-income women

engage in online entertainment

About 10% of low-income women use

prioritize practical usage.

tasks.

activities.

- About 45% of low-income women experience financial constraints.
- About 35% of low-income women are affected by gender-based barriers.

advanced technology, and gender-based barriers restricting women's autonomy in digital decision-making. Moreover, the absence of tailored digital literacy programs exacerbates the digital divide, perpetuating disparities in access and utilization of digital services among low-incomewomen.

Several challenges impeded the digital inclusion of low-income women. Foremost among these was the lack of familiarity with digital services and applications, exacerbated by a dearth of training opportunities. Economic constraints posed significant barriers, with affordability emerging as a critical concern in acquiring smartphones or accessing mobile data. Moreover, entrenched social norms and gender roles often acted as deterrents, further restricting women's access to digital resources.

The study identifies several barriers that impede the digital inclusion of low-income women, including limited digital literacy, financial constraints, and entrenched gender norms. Without



adequate training and support, women face difficulties navigating digital services and applications, exacerbating their exclusion from the digital economy. Moreover, socio-cultural norms often dictate restrictive gender roles, further marginalizing women and restricting their access to digital resources.

Policy Implications and Recommendations

Addressing the digital divide among low-income women requires a comprehensive approach that encompasses policy interventions, community initiatives, and targeted empowerment programs. Policymakers must prioritize initiatives aimed at enhancing digital literacy, providing affordable access to smartphones and mobile data, and challenging gender stereotypes that limit women's participation in the digital sphere. Community-based organizations and civil society actors can play a crucial role in delivering tailored training programs and advocating for gender-inclusive policies. Based on the findings, the study proposes several recommendations to bridge the digital divide among low-income women in Bangladesh:

- Implement tailored digital literacy programs targeting low-income women in both formal and informal sectors.
- Promote digital inclusion initiatives to raise awareness about available resources and support services.
- Advocate for policies that ensure affordable access to digital devices and internet connectivity for low-income women.
- Introduce workplace training initiatives to improve digital literacy among low-income women in formal sector employment.
- There is an urgent need for comprehensive digital literacy programs tailored specifically to the needs of low-income women in Bangladesh. These programs should focus on imparting essential digital skills, such as basic device operation, internet navigation, and online security practices. Collaborative efforts between government agencies, non-profit organizations, and educational institutions can facilitate the implementation of community-based digital literacy initiatives, reaching women in both urban and rural areas.



- Government service apps should be redesigned to prioritize accessibility and userfriendliness, particularly for low-income women with limited digital literacy. This entails simplifying app interfaces, providing multilingual support, and offering user-friendly tutorials to guide users through the application process. Additionally, targeted awareness campaigns and outreach efforts are essential to increase awareness and uptake of government service apps among low-income women.
- Financial institutions should proactively promote digital financial literacy among lowincome women, emphasizing the benefits of online banking services for enhancing financial inclusion and empowerment. This includes offering user-friendly mobile banking apps, conducting financial literacy workshops, and providing personalized assistance to facilitate the adoption of digital financial services. Moreover, partnerships with community-based organizations can extend the reach of financial inclusion initiatives to underserved populations in remote areas.
- Efforts should be made to improve the affordability and accessibility of digital technology, particularly mobile devices, for low-income women in Bangladesh. This may involve subsidizing the cost of smartphones, promoting the adoption of low-cost feature phones with basic internet connectivity, and expanding mobile network coverage to underserved rural areas. Additionally, initiatives such as community technology centers and mobile libraries can provide low-income women with access to digital resources and training opportunities.
- Policymakers should prioritize the integration of gender-sensitive perspectives into digital development policies and initiatives, recognizing the unique challenges and barriers faced by low-income women. This includes incorporating gender equality considerations into national ICT strategies, allocating resources for gender-responsive digital infrastructure projects, and promoting women's participation in decision-making processes related to technology development and implementation.
- Collaborative partnerships between government agencies, civil society organizations, private sector entities, and international development partners are crucial for promoting social inclusion and bridging the digital divide among low-income women. By leveraging diverse expertise and resources, these partnerships can facilitate the design and



implementation of holistic interventions that address the multifaceted barriers to digital access and inclusion.

Robust monitoring and evaluation mechanisms should be established to assess the effectiveness and impact of digital inclusion initiatives targeting low-income women. This involves tracking key indicators such as digital literacy rates, access to digital technology, utilization of digital services, and socioeconomic outcomes. Regular monitoring and evaluation exercises enable stakeholders to identify gaps, measure progress, and refine strategies to achieve meaningful and sustainable digital inclusion outcomes for low-income women in Bangladesh.

Future Directions for Research

Further research is needed to explore the long-term impact of digital exclusion on low-income women's socio-economic outcomes and well-being. Longitudinal studies can provide insights into the effectiveness of interventions aimed at bridging the digital gap and empowering women in Bangladesh. Additionally, comparative studies across different socio-economic contexts can enrich our understanding of the intersecting factors that shape digital inclusion outcomes for low-income women.

Overall, these recommendations aim to inform policy and practice interventions that address the digital divide among low-income women in Bangladesh, fostering inclusive digital ecosystems that empower women to harness the transformative potential of digital technology for their social and economic advancement.

Conclusion

The findings of this study shed light on the pressing issue of digital exclusion among lowincome women in Bangladesh, revealing multifaceted challenges that hinder their participation in the digital landscape. These findings underscore the complex interplay of factors contributing to the digital divide among low-income women in Bangladesh. The discussion section analyzes the implications of the findings, emphasizing the importance of targeted interventions to address the digital gender gap among low-income women in Bangladesh. Key themes include the need for tailored digital literacy programs, promotion of digital inclusion initiatives, and advocacy for affordable access to devices and internet connectivity.



In this discussion, this study delves deeper into the implications of these findings and proposes strategies for bridging the digital gap in this demographic. To address the digital divide among low-income women in Bangladesh requires concerted efforts from policymakers, civil society, and the private sector. By investing in digital literacy programs, expanding access to affordable technology, and challenging gender norms, stakeholders can pave the way for a more inclusive and equitable digital future for all women in Bangladesh

Limitations

While this study provides valuable insights into the digital engagement of low-income women in Bangladesh, it is not without limitations. The sample size was relatively small, and the findings may not be generalizable to all low-income women in the country. But this study will be a significant piece of work to understand the present situation. Future research could explore the effectiveness of specific interventions in bridging the digital divide and evaluate long-term outcomes.



References

Ashraf, M. M., Grunfeld, H., Afza, S., & Malik, B. T. (2011). Information Communication Technology (ICT) for Rural Women's Life in Bangladeshi Villages. In *Adoption, Usage, and Global Impact of Broadband Technologies: Diffusion, Practice and Policy*. IGI Global: 171-183.

Atkinson, J., Black, R., & Curtis, A. (2008). Exploring the digital divide in an Australian regional city: A case study of Albury. *Australian Geographer*, 39(4), 479–493.

Basu, M. (2000). Feminist Perspectives and Gender Link in Development: The Critical Role of Women's Organisations. The Ralph Bunche Institute on the United Nations.

BBS. (2023). Survey on ICT Use and Access by Individuals and Households-2023. Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics. Statistics and Informatics Division. Ministry of Planning. Bangladesh. Retrieved from <u>https://drive.google.com/file/d/1upKpfDxrQTNzbcQaZqOrj7UykWEUbsHj/view</u>

Boger, J., Jackson, P., Mulvenna, M., Sixsmith, J., Sixsmith, A., Mihailidis, A., Martin, S. (2016). Principles for fostering the transdisciplinary development of assistive technologies. *Disability and Rehabilitation: Assistive Technology*, 12(5), 480–490.

Casado-Muñoz, R., Lezcano, F., & Rodríguez-Conde, M. J. (2015). Active ageing and access to technology: An evolving empirical study. *Comunicar*: 23(45), 37–46.

Durndell, A. & Haag, Z. (2002). Computer self efficacy, computer anxiety, attitudes towards the Internet and reported experience with the Internet, by gender, in an East European sample. *Computers in human behavior:18*(5), 521-35.

Fang, M. L., Canham, S. L., Battersby, L., Sixsmith, J., Wada, M., & Sixsmith, A. (2019). Exploring privilege in the digital divide: implications for theory, policy, and practice. *The Gerontologist*: *59*(1), 1-15.

Fisk, M. (2003). *Social alarms to telecare: Older people's services in transition*. Bristol: Policy Press.

GSMA (2020). GSMA connected women – the mobile gender gap report 2020. GSM Association. Available at: <u>https://www.gsma.com/r/gender-gap/</u>

Hafkin, N., & Huyer, S. (2007). Women and Gender in ICT Statistics and Indicators for Development. *Information Technologies and International Development*, Special issue on Women's Empowerment and the Information Society, *4*(2), 25-41.

Harcourt, W. (1999). Women@Internet (p. 240). Palgrave Macmillan.

Heeks, R., Arun, S., & Morgan, S. (2004). Researching ICT-based enterprise for women in developing countries: a gender perspective. In *Women's ICT-Based Enterprise for Development project*. Institute for Development Policy and Management (IDPM), Manchester. Retrieved August 17, 2009, from http://www.womenictenterprise.org/LivelihoodsResearch.doc

Hilbert, M. (2011). Digital gender divide or technologically empowered women in developing countries? A typical case of lies, damned lies, and statistics. In *Women's studies international forum.* Pergamon: *34*(6), 479-489.

ITU (2019_a). Bridging the gender divide. Available at: <u>https://www.itu.int/en/mediacentre/backgrounders/Pages/bridging-the-gender-divide.aspx</u>



ITU (2019_b). Measuring digital development: Facts and figures 2019. Available at: <u>https://www.itu.int/en/ITUD/Statistics/Pages/facts/default.aspx</u>

ITU (2018_c). Capacity building in a changing ICT environment 2018. Available at: <u>https://academy.itu.int/sites/default/files/media/file/CAP_BLD-2018-PDF-E.pdf</u>

Kelkar, G., & Nathan, D. (2002). Gender Relations and Technological Change in Asia. *Current Sociology*, *50*(3), 427-441.

Ng, C., & Mitter, M. S. (2005). *Gender and the Digital Economy: Perspectives from the Developing World*. SAGE Publications.

OECD (2016). Skills for a Digital World. Available at: <u>https://www.oecd.org/els/emp/Skills-for-a-Digital-World.pdf</u>

OECD (2018). Bridging the Digital Gender Divide: Include, Upskill, Innovate. OECD. Available at: <u>http://www.oecd.org/digital/bridging-the-digital-gender-divide.pdf</u>

OECD. (2011). "Understanding the digital divide," OECD Digital Economy Papers 49, Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development Publishing. Paris.

Park, S. (2009). Concentration of internet usage and its relation to exposure to negative content: Does the gender gap differ among adults and adolescents? *Women's Studies International Forum*, *32*(2), 98-107.

Pick, J., & Sarkar, A. (2016, January). Theories of the digital divide: Critical comparison. In 2016 49th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (HICSS). IEEE: 3888-3897.

Rummana, R., Shaheen, S., Chaity, N., Bokhari, R., Anwar, L., Abbas, I. K. A. & Chowdhury, M. I. B. (2011). Gender differences in the usage of information and communication technologies (ICT): The case for entrepreneurs in Bangladesh. In *2011 IEEE International Conference on Computer Applications and Industrial Electronics (ICCAIE).* IEEE: 220-223.

Saha, S. R., & Zaman, M. O. (2017). Gender digital divide in higher education: A study on university of Barisal, Bangladesh. *IOSR Journal of Humanities and Social Science*: 22(1), 11-17.

Sharma, U. (2003). Women Empowerment Through Information Technology. Authors Press.

Sixsmith, A., & Gutman, G. (2013). *Technologies for active* aging. New York: Springer Science & Business Media: 9.

Sultana, R., & Imtiaz, A. (2018). Gender difference in internet usage pattern: A study on university students of Bangladesh. *Scholars Journal of Economics, Business and Management*: *5*(5), 413-421.

Tyers, A. (2012). A Gender Digital Divide? Women Learning English through ICTs in Bangladesh. In *mLearn*: 94-100.

Van D., A. J., van Dijk, J. A., & Peters, O. (2011). Rethinking Internet skills: The contribution of gender, age, education, internet experience, and hours online to medium-and content-related internet skills. *Poetics*, 39(2).

World Wide Web Foundation (2015). Women"s rights online: Translating access into empowerment. Geneva, Web Foundation. Available at: https://webfoundation.org/research/womens-rights-online-2015/



ABOUT THE AUTHORS





M. Shahadat Hossain

M. Shahadat Hossain is a Co-founder of Dnet and has served in the governing body since 2018 and as the Executive Director Since 2021. He has15 years of experience in academia and research. As an academic he has taught various marketing courses for 15 years in North America. Namely at; Sprott School of Business, Carleton University, Canada, State University of New York (SUNY) at Potsdam, USA and as an Adjunct Professor at Clarkson University, NY, USA.

Mr. Hossain began his professional career in 1991. He is a marketing expert as a practitioner and has worked for international and public limited companies both in the service and manufacturing industries as senior level management. His published work on service innovation has received the Outstanding Research Award from The Institute for Business and Finance Research, USA. He has also received a "Title III Grant" for research from the US Department of Education while teaching at SUNY, Potsdam. He has worked on a number of development projects as team lead or technical advisor. He has also been part of a number of research studies as a researcher or methodology expert.

Atanu Das is a researcher and MEAL expert with almost 16 years of experience. He is currently pursuing his research career as a Doctoral Researcher in addition to serving as the Head of Research and MEAL in the Research and MEAL Division at Dnet. Earlier, he obtained BSS degree and MSS degree in Anthropology from the University of Dhaka. He has authored and/or coauthored a number of research journal articles.A total of six (06) research books have been published under his sole authorship and co-authorship.

In addition, several research reports have already been published under his sole authorship or coauthorship on various topics such as development, gender, microfinance, education, culture, environment, ethnicity, rights, health, poverty etc. His research interests also include social and economic inclusion and exclusion, biodiversity, food security, nutrition issues, urban and rural economy.

Furthermore, he is an expert in using various statistical software and qualitative data analysis software. He has contributed to several research projects funded by government agencies, NGOs, and INGOs as co-lead researcher and senior analyst.



Business and Entrepreneurship

Bridging digital divide for rural youth: An experience from computer literacy programme in Bangladesh.

Computer learning for underprivileged rural youth: A critical reflection of Dnet's intervention.

Health and Nutrition

Situation Analysis of Palliative Care in Primary Healthcare Levels in Bangladesh-DGHS.

Consultancy on Developing Digital Intervention for Adolescent Health and Nutrition in Bangladesh- Nutrition national.

Climate and Environment

A guideline for environmentally and socially responsible business practices in the financial sector.

Measuring the willingness to pay for hazard-free e-waste management in Dhaka City, Bangladesh

Evaluation of incentives and barriers for youth to engage in conservation activities

Economic dependency on KBAs - an exploratory study on key biodiversity areas of Bangladesh

Governance and Society

Rethinking non-resident Bangladeshis' contribution to Bangladesh Economy.

ICTs and access to information: How to make it work for promoting human rights.

